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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

STACEY SPRECHER,
Case No. 20v-0968JMY
Plaintiff

V.

SOUTHEASTERN HOME HEALTH
SERVICESOF PA,LLC, ET AL,

Defendants

MEMORANDUM

YOUNGE, J. July 8, 2020
l. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Stacey Sprecheseeks redress agaii3fendanSoutheastern Home Health
Services of PA, LLC (hereinaftefSoutheastern”) for unlawful gender discrimination, hostile
work environmentguid pro quosexual harassment, and retaliation in violation of Title VII of
the Civil Rights Act42 U.S.C. 8 200@t seq, and the Pennsylvania Human Relations Act
(“PHRA"), 43 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. 8 955e€'Am. Compl.,” ECF No. 5.) Plaintiff also
asserts individual liability againBtefendant Rolan@€leneay as an aider and abettor under the

PHRA. (d.)

Presently before the CourtefendantsPartial Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) (“Mot.,” ECF No. 10). The Court finds this matter apai@pr
for resolution without oral argument. Fed. R. Civ. P. 78; L.R. 7.1(f). For the reasons that follow,
DefendantsMotion will be granted andPlaintiff will be given leave to file an amended

complaint.
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. BACKGROUND
A. Factual Background?

Plaintiff beganworking for Southeasterm October 2011. Am. Compl.q 21.) In
November 2011, Plaintiff was appointed Vice President of Business and Program Development
and Vice President of Operatigrasremote position.Id. 1 23, 26 Five years later, Cleneay
was hired by Southeastern as its Chief Financial Ofti€&¥O”). (Id. 1 24.) Within two weeks
of his hire, P4intiff met Cleneay as she attended regular meetings in the corporate dffice. (
26.) Plaintiff alleges she was “subjected to regular and pervasive sexual harasgienmale
superior, Cleneay[,] who had actual supervisory authority over hiet.y 25.) Aftertheir
initial meeting Plaintiff exchanged communications with defendant; Cleneay asked Plaintiff f
herpersonal cell phone and email contacts so that he can “manage communicatidesobuts
the company email.”Iq. 1 2627.) Cleneaycalled Plaintiff initially during work hours and
asked Plaintiff to meet him for lunch on “numerous occasions, however Plaintiff eddrm
that it would not be necessary or viewed as appropridte 1Y 2829.) Around November 16,
2016, after numerous phone calls and after-hours texts, Plagté&éd td' meet up with
Cleneay a couplef timesper quarter “as it seemed harmlesdd. {132-33.)

On November 18, 2017, during dinner togetti€teneay informed Plaintiff that the
CEO and COQuvere very angry with Plaintiff for having spoken frankly about compliance
concerns, nonetheless, he would do his best to protect herf@142.) On April 28, 2018,
“Plaintiff met with Cleneayagain] at his insistence, for dinner.’Id(  48.) When Plaintiff
“pulled up next to Cleneay’s car, he forced a kiss on her and pushed his hand under her skirt and

between her legs.”ld. 1 51.) Plaintiff “quickly pulled away and informed him, in as diplomatic

! The Court adopts the pagination supplied by the CM/ECF docketing system.
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a way as possible, that she did not wish to be physically touched by hdn{'52.) Later that
night, “Cleneay texted Plaintiff to ask if she was ‘okay’ with him being physical witlrmgbr
that had a hard time keeping his hands off hdd” §(53.) Cleneay told Plaintiff “that he was
now indispensable to her survival at the Company and that she should trust no one, except him.”
(Id. 1 54.) Cleneay clarified that “if she rejected his physical advances, he woutcheajsb
to be at risk.” Id. § 55.) On October 21, 2018, Plaintiff met Cleneay for dinner and again he
made it known she required him for protection and without him, she would lose heldiof. (
65.) That evening, Cleneay once again became physically aggressive with Plaintiffisand w
rebuffedby Plaintiff. (Id. 167-68.) Thereafter, on November 15, 2018, Cleneay texted
Plaintiff “I wish |1 was around this weekend to see, touch, kiss ydd.”|(76.) Cleneay’s
continual sexual harassment caused physical symptoms for Plaintifn November 19, 2018
she was setresseaut that she began to vomitd (11 7980.) Around January 5, 2019,
Plaintiff finally told Cleneay thatshe was not attracted to him sexually and that they would
never have an intimate relationshipld.(1 9192.) As a result, Clened$pecame very cool
towards Plaintiff and very shortly afterwards, on January 17, 2019, Plaintiff was textfnoat
her employment.” Ifl. 1 93.) Plaintiff maintains that her “employment was terminated because
she had refused Cleneay’s sexual advanced.y| ©4.)

B. Procedural History

Onor about July 16, 201®laintiff filed sex discrimination and retaliation charges
against Defendastwith the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“‘EEOC”) and the
Pennsylvania Human Relations Commissida. { 16) Onor about November 6, 201the

U.S. Department of Justice issued Plaintiff a Notice of Right to 3def {7) OnFebruary 4,
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202Q Plaintiff filed a Complaint in this CourttECF No. 1.) On May 8, 202@Iaintiff filed her
Amended Complaintasserting the following claims for relief:

Count I: “sex/gender discrimination[,]” “sexual harassment and a hostile-work

environment[,]” ‘quid pro quosexual harassment[,]” and “unlawful retaliation” in

violation of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 200@&t seq (asserted against Southeastern Home

Health Services

Count I1: “discrimination and retaliation” ifiviolation of the Pennsylvania Human

Relations Act, 8 P.S. 8§ 951et seq’ (asserted against Cleneay and Southeastern Home

Health Services
(Am. Compl.q195-103.)

OnMay 22, 2020 Defendants filed a Partidotion to Dismiss. On June 5, 2020,
Plaintiff filed a Response in Opposition (“Opp.,” ECF No. 11-1), and Defendants replied on June
12, 2020 (“Reply,” ECF No. 12).

1. LEGAL STANDARD

The motion to dismiss standard under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) is set
forth in Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662 (2009). Aftégbal, it is clear that “[tlhreadbare recitals
of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, daebdtcuffi
defeat a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismidd. at 678;see also Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomp§50
U.S. 544, 555 (2007). “To survive dismissal, ‘a complaint must contain sufficient factuat,matt
accepted as true, to state aiml to relief that is plausible on its face Tatis v. Allied Interstate,
LLC, 882 F.3d 422, 426 (3d Cir. 2018) (quotigbal, 556 U.S. at 678). Facial plausibility is
“more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfldly(§uotinglgbal, 556

U.S. at 678). Instead, “[a] claim has facial plausibility when the plaintifidddactual content
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that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendaneifoliabé
misconduct alleged.’ld. (quotinglgbal, 556 U.S. at 678).

Our Court of Appeals requires us to apply a three-step analysis under a 12(b)(6) motion:
(1) “[the district court] must tak[e] note of the elements [the] plaintiff musdplestate a
claim;” (2) “it should identify allegations that, ‘because they are no more than donsluare
not entitled to the assumption of truth;” and, (3) “[w]hen there are pleided factual
allegations, [the] court should assume their veracity and then determine whether thigyplaus
give rise to an entitlement to reliefConnelly v. Lane Constr. CorB09 F.3d 780, 787 (3d Cir.
2016) (quotinggbal, 556 U.S. at 675, 679Yhe plausibility @étermination is a “contexdpecific
task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial experience and commseri' s

Igbal, 556 U.S. at 679.

When a motion to dismiss is granted, the court must decide whether to grant leave to
amend. The Third Circuit has a liberal policy favoring amendments and, thus, leave to amend
should be freely grantedsee, e.g., Oran v. Staffer2R6 F.3d 275, 291 (3d Cir. 200@0le v.

Arco Chem. C9.921 F.2d 484, 486 (3d Cir. 1990). However, a court need not grant leave to
amend when it would be an exercise in futili§ity of Cambridge Ret. Sys. v. Altisource Asset
Mgmt. Corp, 908 F.3d 872, 879 (3d Cir. 2018) (“Leave to amend is properly deénied
amendment would be futilege., if the proposed complaint could not ‘withstand a renewed
motion to dismiss.” ) (quotindablonski v. Pan. Am. World Airways, In863 F.2d 289, 292

(3d Cir. 1988)).

V. DISCUSSION
Defendants raise various argunsseeking dismissal oPlaintiff's claims for retaliation

andquid pro quosexual harassment, as well as dismissal of Cleneay, under Rule 12(B§®). (
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Mot. at 5-9.) Plaintiff opposes Defendants’ arguments, and, in the alternative seek®le
amend. $eeOpp. at 5-8.) The Court will address each argument in turn.

A. Individual Liability Against Defendant Cleneay Under the PHRA

Plaintiff alleges in Count Il that Cleneay violated the PHRA by way of “[t]he foregoing
discrimination and retaliation[.]{Am. Compl. 1 102.)or Plaintiff to establish a violation of
the PHRA she must first show an “unlawful discriminatory practice.” 43 Pa. CohsA&ta
§ 955. The statute prohibits “any employer because of [] race, color, religious creed . .orto bar
to discharge from employment such individual . . . or to otherwise discriminate against such
individual . . . with respect to compensation, hire, tenure, terms, conditions or privileges of
employment or contract, if the individual is the best able and most competent to perform the
services required.’8 955(a). The statute further protects employees from “any person” found
“to aid, abet, . . . the doing of any act declared . . . to be an unlawful discriminatory
practice.” § 955(e).

As notedinfra, the PHRA is “generally applied in accordance with Title VII,” which
exposes only employers to liability while exempting individual employees, however, “an
individual supervisory employee can be held liable under an aidohglatting/accomplice
liability theory pursuant to 8§ 955(e) for his own direct acts of discrimination or forihiseféo
take action to prevent further discrimination by an employee under superviBianis v.

Levy, Angstreich, Finney, Baldante, Rubenstein & Coren, RRCF. Supp. 2d 885, 887 (E.D.
Pa. 1998) (citinddici v. Commonwealth of Pa1 F.3d 542, 552 (3d Cir. 1996%ge also
Brzozowski v. Pa. Tpk. CommZ65 F. Supp. 3d 251, 263 (E.D. Pa. 2016). Importantly, an
individual employee may be exposed to liability under the aider and abettor prangiaihe

acts in a supervisory role because “only supervisors can share the discrimingiose@mnd
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intent of the employer that is required for aiding and abettingl.) ((nternal quotation marks
and citation omitted).Thus, “[t]he distinction between a supervisor and arogloyee is
determinative on the matter of whether a PHRA claim for aiding and abettingnilistion may
be brought against an individual defendant[.[d.X

Defendats contend that the Amended Complaint “contains no factual allegations to
show that Cleneay was Plaintiff’'s supervisor or had supervisory authority oveidéactual
allegations exist that Cleneay had the ability to hire Plaintifffact, Plaintifffails to allege even
a single factual allegation in which Cleneay supervised Plain{ibt. at 9.) Plaintiff responds
that she can “sustain a claim of individual liability” by repeating, with emphasegneguh 25 in
her Amended Complaint: “Plaintifvas subjected to regular and pervasive sexual harassment by
her male superior, [Cleneay,] who hedual supervisory authority over her.” (Opp. at 8
(citing Amend. Compl. 1 25).) The Court agrees with Defendants.

A review of the Amended Complaint reveghat Plaintiff has not alleged sufficient facts
demonstrating that Cleneay was Plaintiffs “supervisor” or acted with “supgnasithority”
over her for purposes of § 995(65ee Igbal556 U.S. at 678 (“Threadbare recitals of the
elements of a causd action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice” to defeat
a 12(b)(6) motion.). Although it is alleged generally that Cleneay is the CFO of Southeaste
and that he “had actual supervisory authority” over Plaintiff, the Amended Comrnplailent as
to any actions in which Cleneay directly supervised her, and whether he had the authority to
make any decisions affecting the terms and conditions of Plaintiff's employimeerihe
authority to hire, fire, promote, demote, disciplineransfer Plaintiff. See Jeannot v. Phila.
Hous. Auth.No. 18-1977, 2018 WL 4739669 at *6 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 2, 2018) (“[B]are allegations

that an individual has supervisory authority over the terms and conditions of a plaintiff's
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employment are insufficient to sustain a claim of aiding and abetting liability under the
PHRA."); accord Miles v. City of PhilaNo. 11-4040, 2013 WL 125186, at *8 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 10,
2013) (“Although she does allege that [defendants] had supervisory authority over thangrms
conditions of her employment, more is required for aiding and abetting liability €yriedt
guotation marks and citation omittedge alsdent v. Hendersqry7 F. Supp. 2d 628, 634

(E.D. Pa. 1999) (holding that plaintiff failed to show that defendant was her superviker as s
failed to demonstrate that defendant “had the authority to hire, fire, re-assigmaieder or

set her work schedule or pay rate, or that [defendant] had the power to take tangiblerempl
action against her orfafct her daily work activities”)In sum, Plaintiff fails to allege any facts
that would support her assertion that Cleneay had “actual supervisory authority” over her.

Accordingly, the Court will dismiswithout prejudicePlaintiff's PHRA claims to the
extent they are asserted against Clenéaave to amend is granted.

B. Retaliation Claim in Violation of Title VIl and the PHRA?

Defendants contend that “Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficienimowmigrate
retaliation in violation of Title VIl and the PHRA[.]{Mot. at 5) In order to state a prima facie
case of retaliation, a complaint must allege that: “(1) [pldietigaged in] protected employee
activity; (2) adverse action by the employer either after or contemporaneoubewvitimployee’s

protected activity; and (3) a causal connection between the employee’s protéetgdaen the

2 pPlaintiff brings her retaliation amqliid pro quosexual harassment claims, under both Title VII
and the PHRA. Claims brought under these statutes are analyzed usingehegsafnamework;
therefore, all of these claims may be analyzed toge®ee. lves v. NHS Human Servs.,,INa. 15-

5317, 2016 WL 4039644, at *2 n.1 (E.D. Pa. July 28, 2016) (“Title VII, [and] the PHRA . . . are so
similar that employment discrimination under any one of them is genprabymed to constitute
employment discrimination under the other two as well.” (citationsted)jt see also Rinehimer v.
Cemcolift, Inc. 292 F.3d 375, 382 (3d Cir. 2002) (Courts . . . “generally interpret the PHRA in accord
with its federal counterparts.” (qQuotation omitted)).

8
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employer’s adverse action.’Daniels v. Sch. Dist. of Philaz76 F.3d 181, 193 (3d Cir. 2015)
(quotingMarra v. Phila. Hous. Auth497 F.3d 286, 300 (3d Cir. 2007)).

Defendants argue that Plaintiff's retaliation claim fails because “she never emgaged
protected activity,” anthecause she fails to identify a causal nexus between the protected
activity and subsequent retaliatory actigiMot. at 6.) Plaintiffcounters'she was afraid to
make a formal complaint to anyone other than to Cleneay himself’ and ttzdletpegtions in the
Amended Complaint allow for a reasonable inference that there was a causatwiakrbher
complaintsto Cleneay himself and the retaliatiofOpp. at 6.) Again, the Court agrees with
Defendants.

First, @ to protected activity, our Court Appealshasheldthat“the rejectionof asexual
advancdis] aprotectedactivity.” Farrell v. PlantersLifesaversCo, 206 F.3d 271, 279, n.4
(Cir. 2000);seePappv. MRSBROLLC, No. 13-3183, 201%VL 52470054t *6 (D. N.J.Sept.9,
2015)(citing Farrell andfinding that“rejection of sexualadvancesn Title VII . . . context,
especiallyonmultiple occasionssapartof alargepatternof allegedsexualharassment,
constitutedorotectedactivity.”); seealsoOgilvie v. NorthernValleyEMS,Inc., No. 07-485, 2008
U.S.Dist. LEXIS 87913, *37(E.D. Pa.Oct. 29, 2008)“Plaintiff's allegationthathewas
terminatedbecausef hisrejectionof [defendarits] sexualadvancesioesconditute aprotected
activity underTitle VII"). The Court findsherethatPlaintiff's allegedrebuffing or rejectionof
Cleneay’'ssexualadvancesgjualifiesasprotected activity underiffe VII. Specifically,Plaintiff
contendghatin January 2019 she told “Cleneay that she was not attracted to him sexually and
that they would never have an intimate relationgHipnd prior to this she physically pushed

him away on multiple occasions. (Am. Confffl52, 68, 70, 91-92.) ThuPBJaintiff's alleged
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refusalof these sexual advances and denial ahamate relationship with Cleneay sufficient
to constitute protected activity.

Secondas to an dverse employment action, a plaintiff must allege facts to show that “a
reasonable empjee would have found the alleged retaliatory actiomatérially adversan that
they ‘well might have dissuaded a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of
discrimination” Byrd v. ElwynNo. 16-02275, 2016 WL 5661713, at *5 (E.D. Pa. Sept. 30,
2016) (citingMoore v. City of Philg.461 F.3d 331, 340-41 (3d Cir. 2006)). The Court finds that
Plaintiff has allegd facts to suppodnadverse employmeattion— her termination on January
17, 2019. $eeAm. Compl. 1 93.)

Finally, as tocausationthe court “will evaluate the evidence as a whole, considering
factors such as temporal proximity between protected activity and the advetegraent
decision, intervening hostility, or inconsistent reasons given for the adverse a&ywd, 2016
WL 5661713 at *5 (citing Farrell, 206 F.3d at 280-81). “An (unusually suggestiesporal
proximity can, on its own, show causationld.Y Here, emporal proximityis likely sufficient
as PlaintiffrejectedDefendant aroundanuarys, 2019, andvas terminated 12 days later
moreover, Cleneaydtted cool” towardberduring the intervening period SéeAm. Compl.
1191-93.) Nonethelessthe Court notes that plaintiff “cannot establish that there was a causal
connection without some evidence that the individuals responsible for the adverse aetioh kne
the plaintiff's protected conduct at the time they actdddhiels 776 F.3d at 19&eealso
Romero vAllstate Ins. Cq.3 F. Supp. 3d 313, 328 (E.D. Pa. 2014), &'#.0.C. v. Allstate
Ins. Co, 778 F.3d 444 (3d Cir. 2015), as amended on reh’g in part (Mar. 26, 2015) (“It is well
established that: [a]n employee cannot establish retaliation without provingetehployer

knew that the employee engaged in protected activity. Without knowledge, there can be no

10
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retaliatory intent, and thus there can be no causal connection”) (citation omitted)reijgon
of the Amended Complairand the facts allegdtierein, the Court findBlaintiff's statement that
“[she] was terminated because she had refused Cleneay’s sexual adwdraistonclusory
because there are no facts identifyivigp terminated her, anghether they were aware she had
engaged in proteet activity (SeeAm. Compl. 1 94.)

Accordingly, the Court will dismiss Plaintiff’s retaliatiahaim without prejudicewith
leave to amend.

C. Quid Pro Quo Sexual Harassment Claim in Violation of TitleVII and the
PHRA

To succeedinder aguid pro quotheory of sexual harassment, “a plaintiff must show that
her response to unwelcome sexual advances or other verbal or physical conduct df a sexua
nature was subsequently used as a basis for a decision about compensation, terms, conditions
privileges of employment.’Pergine v. Penmark Mgmt. Co., In814 F. Supp. 2d 486, 491 (E.D.
Pa. 2004) (citingrarrell, 206 F.3d at 281-82):Not only must plaintiff establish that
defendant’s conduct was unwelcome, she must also establish a causal link betwesponse
to the unwelcome advances and the subsequent employment dedidi@t.492;see alsdoe
v. Mercy Catholic MedCtr., No. 15-2085, 2019 WL 3243249, at *15 (July 17, 2019) (plaintiff
may point to evidence of hostility or repeated demands for sexual favors, evidencadiriliet pla
gave inconsistent reasons for termination, and evidence of close timing betweéifi plaint
response and the termination[.]”) It follows that Plaintiff must assert fathe pleading stage
demonstrating that the individual(s) responsible for her termination knew of her regponse
Cleneay’s unwelcome sexual advanc8seDaniels 776 F.3d at 19%ee also Romer@ F.

Supp. 3cat 328.

11
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Defendants contend th@laintiff has not alleged any facts tHadutheastern, as her
employer, knew or acquiesced to Cleneay’s contdydtot. at 8.) Defendants further argue that
Plaintiff “does not assert that her rejection of Cleneay’s advances was a factor in heati@nmi
or that Cleneay was involved, directly or indirectly, in terminating her employmdadt.at(2.)
Plaintiff argues in resptse that“Cleneay, who held a supervisory position over her, represented
to her both explicitly and implicitly that her job would be in jeopardy if she did not submit to his
sexual demands and as such, she was forced to endure verbal or physical ¢@nslextial
nature in return for Cleneay’s protection of her job.” (Opp. at 7) (internal quotataitied).

Plaintiff's companion claim foquid pro quosexual harassment fails because the
Amended Complaint is devoid of any facts supporting causaBee.Farrell 206 F.3d at 281(a
claimfor quid pro quosexual harassment contains a requirementaise and effetsimilar to
a claim for retaliation). The Court notes that Plaintiff cannot establish causéiimut
asserting at least some facts pngvthat her employei.€., the individual(s) who affected her
termination) knew of Plaintiff's response to Cleneay’s unwelcome sexual advawictgathis
was used as the basis for her terminatiohat 282 (“[T]he employee must show that higer
response was in fact used thereafter as a basis for a decision affectinigenifearployment)].”)
The facts are silent as to who terminated Plaintiff, and whether Clenganphanvolvement in
her termination. Moreover, Plaintiff's contentiontthar “employment was terminated because
she had refused Cleneay’s sexual advances” is conclusory and insufficient to eééediabt’s
motion to dismissSee Twomb|y550 U.S. at 555 (“Although for the purposes of a motion to
dismiss we must take all tie factual allegations in the complaint as true, we are not bound to

accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual alletjatioternalcitation omitted).

12
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Accordingly, the Court will dismiss Plaintiff'sjuid pro quosexual harassment claim
without prejudicewith leave to amend.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the Court will grant Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, and

Plaintiff will be given leave to amendAn appropriate Order will follow.

IT ISSO ORDERED.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ John Milton Younge
Judge John Milton Younge
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